In the

Received 04/08/2024 05:03 PM Filed 04/08/2024 05:03 PM

District of Columbia Court of Appeals

CLIENT EARTH, et al.,

Appellants,

ν.

WASHINGTON GAS LIGHT COMPANY,

Appellee.

Appeals from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia, Civil Division No. 2022 CA003323 B (Hon. Danya A. Dayson, Judge)

BRIEF FOR APPELLANTS

KIM E. RICHMAN
(DC Bar No. 1022978)
RICHMAN LAW & POLICY
1 Bridge Street
Suite 83
Irvington, NY 10533
(914) 693-2018
krichman@richmanlawpolicy.com

Counsel for Appellants

APRIL 8, 2024



RULE 26.1 CORPORATE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Plaintiffs-Appellants brought a District of Columbia Consumer Protection Procedures Act ("CPPA") claim pursuant to D.C. Code § 28-3905(k)(1)(D). The Superior Court, which had jurisdiction pursuant to D.C. Code § 28-3905(k)(2), granted Defendant-Appellee's motion to dismiss *in toto* by Order dated August 31, 2023. Plaintiffs-Appellants timely filed a notice of appeal from that Order and judgment on September 29, 2023. This Court holds jurisdiction pursuant to D.C. Code § 11–721 and D.C. Rules of Appellate Procedure 3 & 4.

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiffs-Appellants ClientEarth USA, Inc., U.S. PIRG Education Fund, and Environment America Research & Policy Center ("Plaintiffs"), which are nonprofit public interest organizations, brought this action on behalf of D.C. consumers pursuant to the CPPA. The public interest organizations alleged that Defendant-Appellee Washington Gas Light Company ("WGL"), a utility provider, has increased sales and profits by misrepresenting the properties of its natural gas products (specifically, their purported environmental benefits) to consumers. WGL filed an anti-SLAPP motion against Plaintiffs, arguing that it has a First Amendment right to express opinions about natural gas. The Superior Court, by the Hon. Danya A. Dayson, received briefing and heard oral argument on that motion, but ultimately did not reach the anti-SLAPP arguments. Instead, the Superior Court granted WGL's

separate Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss. Relying on *Gomez v. Independence Management of Delaware, Inc.*, 967 A.2d 1276 (D.C. 2009), the Superior Court held that D.C. Code § 28-3903(c)(2)(B), which precludes the Department of Licensing and Consumer Protection from bringing litigation where activities are regulated by the Public Service Commission, should also be read to bar litigation by public interest organizations.

Plaintiffs contend that the Superior Court made three errors in dismissing their action. First, Gomez does not compel such an expansive interpretation of § 28-3903(c)(2)(B). At the time this Court decided *Gomez*, the CPPA did not yet provide standing for public interest organizations to act on behalf of the general public, and the expansion of *Gomez* to this new type of action contravenes the legislative intent behind the 2012 CPPA amendments. **Second**, the Superior Court read § 28-3903(c)(2)(B), by its own terms, too expansively. Effectively, the Superior Court created an exemption for all forms of consumer-facing salesmanship by defendants who are subject to any form of PSC regulation—even though the Superior Court acknowledged, as it had to, that PSC regulation does not address the conduct at issue. Third, the Superior Court created unnecessary conflicts between statutes. By deferring to PSC action, the Superior Court ordered Plaintiffs to go exhaust administrative remedies that *do not exist* for these litigants. The Superior Court also set D.C. Code § 28-3905(k)(2), which sets mandatory venue for a private CPPA claim in Superior Court, at odds with D.C. Code § 34-605(a), which sends any appeal of a PSC decision to this Court. A better reading of § 28-3903(c)(2)(B) is available that obviates both these conflicts.

Plaintiffs recognize that this case presents issues of first impression and urge the Court to recognize that the Superior Court's decision has sent this important consumer-protection action into a litigation and administrative vacuum. The public interest CPPA device was created in recognition that litigation is cost-prohibitive for individual consumers affected by conduct like WGL's advertising. The dismissal of nonprofit organizations who are willing to expend their own resources on consumers' behalf offends both legislative intent and justice. More importantly for this brief, the dismissal was unnecessary under this Court's precedent.

Accordingly, Plaintiffs request reversal of the dismissal and remand of their action to Superior Court for further proceedings.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

This appeal asks whether D.C. Code § 28-3901(15) public interest organizations can bring a CPPA claim on behalf of the general public for marketing misrepresentations against a utility company regulated by the Public Service Commission. The Superior Court dismissed the case based upon its interpretation that D.C. Code § 28-3903, which addresses whether the Department of Licensing and Consumer Protection could bring such a CPPA claim, also precludes these

public interest Plaintiffs from pursuing the action, despite the organizations enjoying explicit standing under D.C. Code § 3905(k)(1)(D).

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- (1) Did the Superior Court err in holding that D.C. Code § 28-3903, which precludes the Department of Licensing and Consumer Protection from bringing enforcement actions against PSC-regulated entities, also precludes suit brought by public interest organizations pursuant to D.C. Code § 28-3905(k)(1)(D), where the provisions authorizing such a suit do not contain any similar limitation?
- (2) If the Superior Court's reading of § 28-3903 was erroneous, would the action still be subject to dismissal, based on WGL's assertion that even public interest plaintiffs need to exhaust administrative remedies before the PSC?

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Three nonprofit, public interest organizations¹—ClientEarth, U.S. PIRG Education Fund, and Environment America Research & Policy Center—brought suit against WGL, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of a Canadian corporation, AltaGas Ltd., for violations of the CPPA, D.C. Code § 28-3901 *et seq.* Acting on behalf of the general public of the District of Columbia, Plaintiffsi allege that WGL,

¹ WGL does not challenge that all three Plaintiffs are nonprofit organizations pursuant to D.C. Code § 28-3901(a)(14) and public interest organizations pursuant to D.C. Code § 28-3901(a)(15).

to its own tremendous profit, misleadingly markets its natural gas as a "clean," "sustainable," and "carbon neutral" alternative to traditional fossil fuels and does so in order to appeal to the growing constituency of environmentally minded consumers in the District. (Compl. ¶ 7; A13.) Plaintiffs further allege that WGL is aware that natural gas is not a "clean," or "sustainable" source of energy, but instead a fossil fuel comprised primarily of methane, which has a substantially greater negative effect on the environment than carbon dioxide. (*Id.* ¶ 8; A14.) Plaintiffs do not seek damages; they request declaratory and injunctive relief, asking the Superior Court to declare that the misleading statements are in violation of the CPPA, and to enjoin WGL from continuing to make the misleading representations to D.C. consumers.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

WGL first filed a special motion for partial dismissal under the District of Columbia's Anti-SLAPP statute, D.C. Code § 16-5501 *et seq.*, arguing that WGL enjoys a First Amendment right to present what it contends are the benefits of natural gas. (Def.'s Special Mot. Dismiss at 9-14; A48-53; Def's Reply Special Mot. Dismiss at 3-5; A892-894.) Plaintiffs opposed that motion on the grounds that, *inter alia*, (1) the speech at issue is plainly commercial, aimed at selling more of WGL's natural gas to consumers, and (2) the Anti-SLAPP Act is not intended to protect major energy companies against small-budget public interest organizations representing consumers. (Pls.' Mem. Opp. Def.'s Special Mot. Dismiss at 11-15;

A820-A825.) While the Anti-SLAPP motion was pending, WGL filed a separate motion to dismiss the action entirely on the grounds that the Superior Court lacked jurisdiction over this case because WGL, as a public utility company, is subject to oversight exclusively by the District of Columbia's Public Service Commission (the "PSC" or "Commission"). (Def.'s Mot. Dismiss at 1, 6; A837, A842; Def.'s Reply Mot. Dismiss at 1, 3; A963, A965.) Plaintiffs opposed that motion, arguing that PSC regulation of some of WGL's practices and procedures does not exempt WGL's entire business from the purview of the CPPA. (Pls.' Mem. Opp. Def.'s Mot. Dismiss at 2, 4-6; A910, A912-A914.) The Superior Court heard oral argument on both motions on April 14, 2023. (See Tr. (Apr. 14, 2023); A970-A983.) On August 31, 2023, the Honorable Danya A. Dayson issued an Order granting the motion to dismiss in toto, holding (1) that WGL is exempt from CPPA litigation pursuant to D.C. Code § 28-3903, which should be read to apply both to cases brought by the Department of Licensing and Consumer Protection ("DLCP" or "the Department") and those brought by private parties (Order 7-10; A990-A993); and (2) as such, the court lacked subject matter jurisdiction (id. 12; A995). Because the Superior Court dismissed based on those holdings, it did not reach the Anti-SLAPP motion or WGL's additional arguments.

The Superior Court's dismissal Order is the subject of this appeal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews the Superior Court's findings of law *de novo*. *See In re Estate of Curseen v. Ingersoll*, 890 A.2d 191, 193 (D.C. 2006). Because these are questions of statutory construction, the Court looks to be intent of the lawmakers. *See Chase v. Public Defender Serv.*, 956 A.2d 67, 70 (D.C. 2008). Statutes must be interpreted "to avoid absurd results and obvious injustice." *In re Bright Ideas Co.*, 284 A.3d 1037, 1050 (D.C. 2022) (internal citations and quotations omitted).

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

D.C. Code § 28-3905 provides the procedures by which an action for violation of the CPPA may be brought. Subsections 28-3905(a) through (e), and (h), set forth the mechanism for filing and pursuing a complaint with the Department of Licensing and Consumer Protection (also called simply "the Department" within the CPPA). Subsections 28-3905(f) and (g) state the procedures to be followed if the Department, pursuant to subsection (e), transmits the complaint to the Office of Adjudication. Subsection 28-3905(i) provides that, following dismissal of or decision on a complaint by the Department or the Office of Adjudication, an aggrieved party may appeal to this Court of Appeals. Subsection 28-3905(j) allows the administrative agencies to take immediate action prior to an appeal.

Subsection 28-3905(k), by contrast to all the foregoing, provides for private rights of action to be brought in D.C. Superior Court. Mandatory venue is set by

§ 28-3905(k)(2), which states that the claim "*shall* be brought in the Superior Court of the District of Columbia" (emphasis added). Subsections 28-3905(k)(1)(A) and (B) govern actions brought by consumers, either individually or in a representative capacity. Subsections 28-3905(k)(1)(C) and (D) are unique to the CPPA among all consumer protection statutes nationwide. Subsection 28-3905(k)(1)(C) grants standing to "nonprofit organizations" to bring actions to remedy CPPA violations, so long as the organization has some interest in the action, such as purchasing the goods at issue to test their properties:

A nonprofit organization may, on behalf of itself or any of its members, or on any such behalf and on behalf of the general public, bring an action seeking relief from the use of a trade practice in violation of a law of the District, including a violation involving consumer goods or services that the organization purchased or received in order to test or evaluate qualities pertaining to use for personal, household, or family purposes.

D.C. Code § 28-3905(k)(1)(C). Subsection 28-3905(k)(1)(D) throws the net even wider and permits "public interest organizations" to bring any action a consumer could bring, so long as the public interest organization has sufficient nexus to the consumers it seeks to represent:

(i) Subject to sub-subparagraph (ii) of this subparagraph, a public interest organization may, on behalf of the interests of a consumer or a class of consumers, bring an action seeking relief from the use by any

² Subsection 28-3901(a)(14) defines a "nonprofit organization" as "a person who: (A) Is not an individual; and (B) Is neither organized nor operating, in whole or in significant part, for profit." Plaintiffs to this action are nonprofit organizations but pleaded standing based on § 28-3905(k)(1)(D), not § 28-3905(k)(1)(C).

person of a trade practice in violation of a law of the District if the consumer or class could bring an action under subparagraph (A) of this paragraph for relief from such use by such person of such trade practice.

(ii) An action brought under sub-subparagraph (i) of this subparagraph shall be dismissed if the court determines that the public interest organization does not have sufficient nexus to the interests involved of the consumer or class to adequately represent those interests.

D.C. Code § 28-3905(k)(1)(D). Subsection 28-3901(a)(15) defines a "public interest organization" as "a nonprofit organization that is organized and operating, in whole or in part, for the purpose of promoting interests or rights of consumers." Plaintiffs to this action are public interest organizations who pleaded standing under § 28-3905(k)(1)(D) and brought their action "on behalf of the general public, *i.e.*, D.C. consumers who purchase natural gas and may be targeted by Defendant's marketing claims." (Compl. ¶ 20; A26; *see also id.* ¶ 18; A24.)

The Superior Court's order dismissing Plaintiffs' case turns on a separate CPPA provision, D.C. Code § 28-3903(c)(2)(B), which states: "The Department may not . . . apply the provisions of section 28-3905 to . . . (B) persons subject to regulation by the Public Service Commission of the District of Columbia." Plaintiffs contend that the Superior Court, interpreting this provision in a § 28-3905(k)(1)(D) action as question of first impression, made two errors.

First, the Superior Court held that, because the *Department* may not apply § 28-3905 to PSC-regulated person, nor may a public interest organization (like Plaintiffs here) do so. The Superior Court relied on the holding of *Gomez*, 967 A.2d

1276, but this analysis failed to account for (1) the identity of Plaintiffs here, or (2) the legislative developments since *Gomez*. That error is the subject of Part I of this Argument.

Second, the Superior Court held that § 28-3903(c)(2)(B)'s exemption applies not just to conduct actually regulated by the PSC, but to *any activity* in which the subject might engage, regardless of whether the PSC has oversight of that activity. That error, which if left in place will lead to absurdities that lack support from the legislative history of the CPPA, is the subject of Part II of this Argument.

Because of these two errors, the Superior Court did not reach WGL's argument that no CPPA action can lie until Plaintiffs exhaust administrative remedies before the PSC. In so doing, the Superior Court created a conflict between two statutes, both in terms of jurisdiction (public interest plaintiffs have CPPA standing but no standing before the PSC) and in terms of venue (a CPPA action must originate in Superior Court but appeal from a PSC decision goes to this Court of Appeals). That error is the subject of Part III of this Argument.

For each of these reasons, Plaintiffs ask the Court to reverse the Order of the Superior Court granting WGL's motion to dismiss, and to remand the case for further proceedings.

I. The Superior Court Erred in Holding That *Gomez* Governs This Suit Brought by Public Interest Organizations.

By its language, § 28-3903(c)(2)(B) would appear to affect only an action brought to and in the Department of Licensing and Consumer Protection: "The **Department** may not ... apply the provisions of section 28-3905 to ... persons subject to regulation by the Public Service Commission of the District of Columbia." Supporting this interpretation is the fact that, as set forth *supra*, enforcement procedures within the Department (or by the Department's referral, within the Office of Adjudication) are wholly separate from private claimant procedures, which find venue exclusively in D.C. Superior Court. (Again, Department and Office of Adjudication procedures appear in § 28-3905(a) through (i), and private claimant procedures, whether brought by a consumer or a nonprofit or public interest organization, appear in § 28-3905(k). The statute provides no relation or crossreference between § 28-3905(a) through (j) and § 28-3905(k).) Subsection 28-3903(c)(2)(B) is silent on whether a public interest organization, acting under § 28-3905(k)(1)(D), may apply the provisions of § 28-3905 to persons subject to PSC regulation.

The Superior Court, however, held that, because the Department cannot apply the provisions of § 28-3905 to a PSC-regulated company like WGL, these public interest plaintiffs must be precluded from bringing a private right of action in Superior Court. This constrained reading of § 28-3903(c)(2)(B) arose from the

Superior Court's interpretation of *Gomez*. As set forth below, *Gomez* by its own terms does not dictate such a reading of § 28-3903(c)(2)(B), and the Superior Court failed to account for legislative developments in the fifteen years since *Gomez*—including the fact that a § 28-3905(k)(1)(D) public interest action like this one did not even exist at the time this Court rendered the *Gomez* decision.

A. Gomez Does Not Govern a Public Interest Organization's CPPA Claim.

The facts underlying *Gomez* were these: The landlord defendant sold an apartment building, which housed the plaintiff tenants, without offering the tenants a chance to buy their units. *Gomez*, 967 A.2d at 1279. The tenants sued the property management company for violation of the Rental Housing Conversion and Sale Act ("Sale Act") and added an additional claim for violation of the CPPA. *Id.* This Court's decision was that the CPPA was *not* meant to address violations of the Sale Act:

We find no evidence in the plain language of the CPPA that the legislature intended it to apply in these circumstances. Allegations that the defendants failed to comply with the Sale Act do not fit naturally within the thirty-some detailed examples of unfair trade practices set forth in D.C. Code § 28-3904 (2001). Tellingly, some portions of § 3904 make it a violation of the CPPA for any person to "violate any provision" of several other statutes, but these subsections conspicuously fail to mention the Sale Act at all.

Id. at 1285. The Court then further held that private plaintiffs are precluded from applying the CPPA to landlord-tenant relations. See id. at 1286. The Court's

reasoning was that the 2000 Amendments to the CPPA, passed nine years before *Gomez*, had removed the express link between the Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs (DCRA)'s jurisdiction and CPPA jurisdiction over landlord-tenant cases.³ *See id.* at 1287-88 ("Nothing in the plain language of the statute or its legislative history indicates that the legislature intended such a dramatic expansion of the Act.").

Three independent reasons establish that *Gomez* does not create a wholesale carveout of PSC-regulated entities from CPPA liability and does not apply to the case here.

First, Gomez is not a consumer protection case; this Court's primary holding in Gomez is that Gomez is a Sales Act case—not a deceptive advertising case—and the CPPA was not meant to apply to violations of the Sales Act. See id. at 1285-86. ("[T]he language and legislative history of the CPPA point to the opposite conclusion—that it was never intended to apply to this situation."). The Gomez opinion is silent on whether its primary holding would apply to consumer deception

³ The DCRA was a predecessor agency to the Department of Licensing and Consumer Protection (DLCP), which is the entity now charged with investigating and enforcing the CPPA. *See* https://dlcp.dc.gov/ (last visited Apr. 8, 2024). In 2022, the DCRA was split into two separate entities, the Department of Buildings (which handles building inspections, zoning administration, and code compliance), and the DLCP. *See* D.C. Code § 10-561.02; *see also The Transition*, The District's Newest Agencies, https://dcratransition.dc.gov/ (last visited Apr. 8, 2024). For continuity, this brief refers to both the DCRA and the DLCP as the "Department."

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