In the District of Columbia Court of Appeals



CLIENT EARTH, et al.,

Appellants,

ν.

WASHINGTON GAS LIGHT COMPANY,

Appellee.

Appeals from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia, Civil Division No. 2022 CA003323 B (Hon. Danya A. Dayson, Judge)

BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

Baker Botts L.L.P.

Megan Berge (DC Bar No. 983714)*
J. Mark Little (pro hac vice pending)
Adam Dec (DC Bar No. 888187500)
Scott Novak (DC Bar No. 1736274)
700 K St NW
Washington, DC 20001
megan.berge@bakerbotts.com
mark.little@bakerbotts.com
adam.dec@bakerbotts.com
scott.novak@bakerbotts.com
Attorneys for Appellee

MAY 23, 2024

RULE 26.1 CORPORATE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

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

Moreover, even if Plaintiffs could not pursue their complaints at the Commission, the Office of People's Counsel ("OPC") provides an ultimate backstop that ensures these types of consumer complaints may be brought before the Commission. The OPC was established the year before the Council enacted the CPPA,⁷ and its duties shed light on the overarching statutory context for the public utilities exemption. The OPC is statutorily charged with independently advocating for the people of the District before the Commission. It "[s]hall represent and appeal for the people of the District of Columbia at hearings of the Commission and in judicial proceedings in the District of Columbia courts when these proceedings and hearings involve the interests of users of the products of or services furnished by public utilities under the jurisdiction of the Commission." D.C. Code § 34-804(d)(1). It may also "investigate independently, or within the context of formal proceedings before the Commission, the services given by, the rates charged by, and the valuation

⁷ The OPC was established in 1975. Pub. L. 93-614, 88 Stat. 1975 (Jan. 2, 1975). The CPPA was enacted in 1976. Act of July 22, 1976, D.C. Law 1-76.

of the properties of the public utilities under the jurisdiction of the Commission," *id.* § 34-804(d)(4), and "develop means to otherwise assure that the interests of the users of the products of or services furnished by public utilities under the jurisdiction of the Commission are adequately represented in the course of proceedings before the Commission," *id.* § 34-804(d)(5). And, importantly, "[i]n defining its positions while advocating on matters pertaining to the operation of public utility or energy companies, the Office shall consider the public safety, the economy of the District of Columbia, the conservation of natural resources, and the preservation of environmental quality, including effects on global climate change and the District's public climate commitments." *Id.* § 34-804(e). Accordingly, the OPC acts as a final safeguard to ensure the kinds of complaints Plaintiffs wish to lodge are adequately aired at the Commission.⁸

III. In any event, there are multiple alternative grounds for affirming the Superior Court's dismissal.

The Court need proceed no further since the above-discussed points are more than sufficient for an affirmance. But in the event the Court were to disagree with the Superior Court's conclusion that § 28-3903(c)(2)(B) exempts Washington Gas

_

⁸ Indeed, the Maryland Office of People's Counsel has raised similar complaints against Washington Gas before the Maryland Public Service Commission under Maryland's similar regulatory regime, thereby demonstrating the viability of that route to relief. *See In re Maryland Office of People's Counsel*, 306 A.3d 712, 735-39 (Md. App. 2023).

from the CPPA's scope, there are two alternative bases for affirming that dismissal nonetheless. *See Exec. Sandwich Shoppe, Inc. v. Carr Realty Corp.*, 749 A.2d 724, 735 n.14 (D.C. 2000) ("[I]t is well settled that an appellate court may affirm a decision for reasons other than those given by the trial court.").

A. Even if CPPA claims were available against Washington Gas, the Commission would be the exclusive forum for such claims.

The first alternative basis for affirmance is that even if Plaintiffs were entitled to bring CPPA claims against Washington Gas, D.C. law makes the Commission not the Superior Court—the exclusive forum for Plaintiffs' claims, with judicial review to follow in this Court. It is true that § 28-3905(k)(2) directs that CPPA claims "shall be brought in the Superior Court of the District of Columbia." But that must be harmonized with § 34-402, which states that the Commission "shall inquire into any neglect or violation of the laws or regulations in force in the District of Columbia by any public utility doing business therein, or by the officers, agents, or employees thereof, ... and shall have the power, and it shall be its duty, to enforce the provisions of this subtitle as well as all other laws relating to public utilities." (emphases added). Even if the CPPA applies to Washington Gas, then it would fall within the scope of that provision since it would be a "law[] relating to public utilities" and an applicable "law[] ... in force in the District of Columbia." *Id*.

It makes sense that § 34-402 is an implicit exception to § 28-3905(k)(2)'s vesting of jurisdiction in the Superior Court given the Commission's capacious

control over utilities and the Council's deliberate efforts to ensure the Commission's unitary legal supervision of them. Surely the Council could have not meant to set up that integrated system of supervision and review, only to break it for CPPA claims. The more reasonable reading would be that the Council intended for CPPA claims to be channeled to the Commission in keeping with its role of providing unitary oversight of the public utilities.

Further confirming that conclusion is that the alternative reading—under which the CPPA claims against utilities (again, assuming *arguendo* that they exist) must proceed in Superior Court—would result in an absurd system in which plaintiffs could pursue two parallel tracks to challenge the same statements—one in the Superior Court with a CPPA claim and another in the Commission with a similar complaint. The Council could not have intended to set up such an irrational and inefficient method for resolving these kinds of disputes. *See Ne. Neighbors for Responsible Growth, Inc. v. Appletree Inst. for Educ. Innovation, Inc.*, 92 A.3d 1114, 1121 (D.C. 2014) (rejecting appellants' statutory interpretation that would have "permitted two parallel and independent tracks of review," because "its inherent inefficiency and the potential for inconsistent decisions[]").

B. All of Plaintiffs' challenges either concern noncommercial speech that is not covered by the CPPA or are moot.

The second alternative basis for affirmance consists of a combination of two defects with Plaintiffs' claims. Most of the statements Plaintiffs challenge are

noncommercial speech that necessarily falls outside the scope of the CPPA. And the challenges to the remaining statements are moot. That one-two punch is yet another way to affirm the Superior Court's dismissal.

1. Most of the statements at issue are noncommercial speech that cannot be challenged under the CPPA.

Most of the statements Plaintiffs challenge are noncommercial speech that is not actionable under the CPPA. As Plaintiffs conceded below, the CPPA "appl[ies] exclusively to commercial speech." A820, Plaintiffs' Anti-SLAPP Opp. 11 n.20; *see also Ford v. Chartone, Inc.*, 908 A.2d 72, 81 (D.C. 2006) ("A valid claim for relief under the CPPA must originate out of a consumer transaction."). Yet the majority of the challenged statements here—those Washington Gas made in or about the Climate Business Plan and the Natural Gas 101 handbook and aligned safety and educational information—are not commercial speech. Rather, those statements are constitutionally protected noncommercial speech that falls outside the scope of the CPPA.

Commercial speech is speech that is "related *solely* to the economic interests of the speaker and its audience" or "speech proposing a commercial transaction." *Cent. Hudson Gas & Elec. Corp. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of N.Y.*, 447 U.S. 557, 561-62 (1980) (emphasis added). Political advocacy or scientific debate is not commercial speech, but rather noncommercial speech protected under the First Amendment. *See, e.g., Bd. of Trs. of Leland Stanford Jr. Univ. v. Sullivan*, 773 F.

Supp. 472, 474 (D.D.C. 1991) ("[T]he First Amendment protects scientific expression and debate just as it protects political and artistic expression.") (collecting cases).

The Climate Business Plan is not commercial speech. It originated from 2018 proceedings in Formal Case No. 1142, wherein the Commission ordered Washington Gas (and its parent) to address various District of Columbia government climate policies regarding achieving carbon neutrality by 2050. The Commission's order contemplated that Washington Gas's filing would show how Washington Gas could "support and serve" these policy goals—including, but not limited to providing new services and products other than natural gas—and that Washington Gas would conduct public outreach on the Climate Business Plan and its progress. A359, Formal Case No. 1142, *In the Matter of the Merger of AltaGas, Ltd. And WGL Holdings, Inc.*, Order No. 19396, 28 (June 29, 2018).

The result was a 236-page filing consisting of technical analysis and forward-looking policy proposals for how Washington Gas can collaborate with the District on policy and regulatory initiatives to address the District's climate goals over the next thirty years. A60-A295, Washington Gas Climate Business Plan (Mar. 16, 2020). The Climate Business Plan is a "blueprint to achieve carbon neutrality in support of the District of Columbia's long-term climate goals," advocates for "[i]mplementing a regulatory framework and policy that facilitates and incents

emission reduction measures," and concludes that "collaborative and good faith dialogue among Washington Gas, the DC PSC, policymakers and various other stakeholders," "supportive policy," and "regulatory certainty" would be required to implement the Climate Business Plan. A65, A84, A90, Washington Gas Climate Business Plan, 1, 21, 27 (Mar. 16, 2020). These statements detail Washington Gas's aspirations; they do not propose a commercial transaction. *See Nat'l Consumers League v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, No. 2015 CA 007731 B, 2016 WL 4080541, at *6-8 (D.C. Super. Ct. July 22, 2016) (dismissing claims because the use of qualifying terms demonstrates statements are "aspirational in nature" and "are not promises to consumers").

Likewise, the targeted statements about the Climate Business Plan in internet publications that educate the residents of the District of Columbia on the soundness and progress of its proposals—such as a link to the "science-based" Climate Business Plan (A17, Compl. ¶¶ 42-43) or a 10-minute YouTube video summarizing the Climate Business Plan (A18, Compl. ¶ 47)—do not propose a commercial transaction. For instance, the video, titled "Learn about the WGL Climate Business

⁹ Washington Gas's statements regarding sustainability, *see* A18, Compl. ¶ 45 ("At WGL, we strive to be responsible stewards of the environment"), are similarly aspirational in nature and do not propose a commercial transaction. *See Nat'l Consumers League v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, No. 2015 CA 007731 B, 2016 WL 4080541, at *6–8 (D.C. Super. Ct. July 22, 2016) (citing to terms like "expect," "goal," and "ask" in dismissing claims).

Plan – July 2020," opens with a description and summary of the Climate Business Plan's "three main action areas." The video closes by explaining that there will be biannual community meetings and additional public outreach about the Climate Business Plan in meetings with "ANC's [Advisory Neighborhood Committees]," "legislators," "communities of faith," "business leaders," "developers," "education systems," and a "whole host and robust list of stakeholders that we value" to discuss "the solutions when it comes to climate change." WGL, Learn about the WGL Plan Climate Business July 2020, https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=uLxXLTD2WaY&t=5s. The statements in this video—e.g., that Washington Gas "can help the District reach its carbon neutral status, spending \$2.7 billion less than relying solely on electrification to get there" and similar public outreach efforts do not advertise consumer sales. *Id.* Rather, they are essential to Washington Gas's efforts to develop, propose, and discuss viewpoints on these policy proposals.

The Natural Gas 101 handbook is not commercial speech either. Informational pamphlets like the handbook can be considered commercial only if they: (1) are "conceded to be advertisements," (2) "refer[] to a specific product," and (3) are "economic[ally] motivat[ed]." *Bolger v. Youngs Drug Prods. Corp.*, 463 U.S. 60, 66–67 (1983). The handbook is not a sales ad. The 12-page document outlines safety tips and emergency information on how to detect, respond to, and report suspected

gas leaks, how and when gas leaks are assessed, common causes for damage to gas infrastructure, and information about important safety programs (*e.g.*, "Call Before You Dig"). Washington Gas, *Natural Gas 101 – Resources, Safety Tips and Emergency Information*, https://www.washingtongas.com/-/media/89777d1992864298ab23868eadda44ec.pdf.¹⁰ Moreover, the handbook was not published for economic reasons; like the Climate Business Plan, it is mandated by the Commission. *See* D.C. Mun. Regs. tit. 15 § 2304.2 (requiring "mass communication ... of the hazards of leaking gas and ... procedures ... in reporting gas leaks").

Thus, the challenged statements neither "relate[] *solely* to the economic interests of the speaker and its audience" nor are "speech proposing a commercial transaction." *Cent. Hudson Gas & Elec. Corp.*, 447 U.S. at 561-62 (emphasis added). Indeed, no case supports holding that such regulatory filings or safety and educational materials mandated by an agency constitute commercial speech. A contrary rule would virtually eliminate the distinction between commercial and noncommercial speech by deeming essentially every public company statement commercial speech. That would have especially absurd and deleterious consequences here, as any injunction would effectively bar Washington Gas from

_

¹⁰ Likewise, Washington Gas's statements on its safety and educational webpages, *see* A16-A17, Compl. ¶¶ 40-43, are not advertisements; their primary purpose is to provide general information about the use of natural gas.

advocating its views on public issues being considered by the Commission—even when the Commission orders it to do so.

2. Plaintiffs' remaining claims—those based on older billing statements—are moot.

That leaves only the statements on some of Washington Gas's older billing statements as the lone remaining instance of arguably commercial speech. A15, Compl. ¶ 39. But the challenges to those are moot and should be dismissed on that basis. *Grant v. Dist. of Columbia*, 908 A.2d 1173, 1177 n.9 (D.C. 2006) (mootness is a "jurisdictional defect").¹¹

A case is moot where parties lack a "legally cognizable interest in the outcome" or the issues are no longer "live." *Fraternal Ord. of Police, Metro. Lab. Comm. v. Dist. of Columbia*, 113 A.3d 195, 198 (D.C. 2015). Critically, to avoid a finding of mootness, "a plaintiff seeking forward-looking relief, such as an injunction, must allege facts showing that the injunction is necessary to prevent injury otherwise likely to happen in the future." *Equal Rights Ctr. v. Props. Int'l*, 110 A.3d 599, 603 (D.C. 2015); *see also Mbakpuo v. Ekeanyanwu*, 738 A.2d 776,

_

¹¹ Because the challenges to these statements are moot, the Court need not decide whether the statements themselves constitute commercial speech. *Cf. Consol. Edison Co. of New York, Inc. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of New York*, 447 U.S. 530, 544 (1980) ("The Commission's suppression of bill inserts that discuss controversial issues of public policy directly infringes the freedom of speech protected by the First and Fourteenth Amendments."). Washington Gas reserves the right to raise those arguments on any remand.

782 (D.C. 1999) (an injunction must be "needed" to avoid "some cognizable danger of a recurrent violation, something more than mere possibility which serves to keep the case alive") (citation omitted).

Plaintiffs fail that basic requirement here. They conceded below that they do not seek damages for past conduct and instead request only prospective declaratory and injunctive relief "to stop the representations from being made to D.C. consumers." A817, Plaintiff's Anti-SLAPP Opp., 8. But the challenged statements no longer appear on any Washington Gas bills. A882-A884, Decl. of Andrea Mills, 1-4 ("No Washington Gas bills generated after May 23, 2022, contain the cited statements Unless otherwise required by law, Washington Gas unconditionally and irrevocably represents that Washington Gas has no intention to, and will not, take any action to include the cited statements on any future bills or invoices to Washington Gas customers."). Nor is there any reasonable basis to expect them to reappear in the future. *Id.* Plaintiffs are therefore left with nothing to enjoin.

Where, as here, "a party merely seeks a declaratory judgment, or simply has a desire for vindication," the case is moot and should be dismissed. *Bruce v. Potomac Elec. Power Co.*, 162 A.3d 177, 183 (D.C. 2017) (citation omitted). No live dispute exists over the billing statements, and aside from a purely advisory opinion, it is impossible for a declaratory judgment to provide any meaningful relief.

CONCLUSION

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